

University of Arkansas, Fayetteville ScholarWorks@UARK

Chemistry & Biochemistry Undergraduate Honors Theses

Chemistry & Biochemistry

5-2015

Increased Microdialysis Recovery of Large Molecular Weight Analytes via Ultrafiltration

Michael C. Elkins University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarworks.uark.edu/chbcuht

Recommended Citation

Elkins, Michael C., "Increased Microdialysis Recovery of Large Molecular Weight Analytes via Ultrafiltration" (2015). *Chemistry & Biochemistry Undergraduate Honors Theses.* 11. http://scholarworks.uark.edu/chbcuht/11

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Chemistry & Biochemistry at ScholarWorks@UARK. It has been accepted for inclusion in Chemistry & Biochemistry Undergraduate Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UARK. For more information, please contact scholar@uark.edu.

Increased Microdialysis Recovery of Large Molecular Weight

Analytes via Ultrafiltration

An honors thesis submitted in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the Honors Studies in

Biochemistry

By

Michael Elkins

2015

Chemistry / Biochemistry

J. William Fulbright College of Arts and Sciences

The University of Arkansas

Acknowledgements

- NIH EB 014404
- NIH R21 NS 075874
- Honors College, University of Arkansas
- Stenken lab members for their guidance
- Randy Espinal Cabrera for personally mentoring me
- My committee members for putting in time to review my work
- Finally, Dr. Julie Stenken for allowing me the opportunity to work under her

Table of Contents

I.	<u>Abstract</u>	
II.	Introduction	4-10
	A. Microdialysis Sampling Overview	4
	B. Theoretical Background	5
	C. Limitations	6
	D. Variations of Microdialysis	
	<i>i.</i> Push-Pull Microdialysis	
	<i>ii.</i> Vacuum Ultrafiltration	9
III.	Materials and Methods	10-12
	A. Chemicals and Instruments	10
	B. Solutions	11
	C. Push-Pull Microdialysis	
	D. Vacuum Ultrafiltration	11
	E. Sample Measurement	12
IV.	Results and Discussion	
	A. Push-Pull Microdialysis	
	B. Vacuum Ultrafiltration	15
V.	Conclusion	
VI.	References	17-19

I. Abstract

Microdialysis is a sampling method based on the passive diffusion of solutes across a semi-permeable hollow-fiber membrane that is driven by a concentration gradient. The membrane has a defined molecular weight cutoff, which causes larger molecular solutes such as proteins with molecular weights of approximately 8-80 kDa to have low recoveries. The purpose of this research is to utilize ultrafiltration across the membrane through push-pull and vacuum ultrafiltration methods as a means to increase recovery of large molecular weight analyte. These experiments were carried out using Methyl Orange (MO), Fluorescein Isothiocyanate 4 kDa (FITC-4), and Fluorescein Isothiocyanate 40 kDa (FITC-40). In comparison to conventional microdialysis, using push-pull methods (1 uL/min push with 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 uL/min pull, respectively) increased MO recovery up to 12%, FITC-4 recovery up to 47%, and FITC-40 recovery up to 37%. In comparison to conventional microdialysis, vacuum ultrafiltration methods (0 uL/min push with 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 uL/min pull, respectively) increased MO recovery up to 30%, FITC-4 recovery up to 64%, and FITC-40 recovery up to 87%.

II. Introduction

A. Microdialysis Sampling Overview

Microdialysis is a sampling method based on the passive diffusion of solutes across a semi-permeable hollow-fiber membrane that is driven by a concentration gradient. Because of microdialysis probes' small length and width (10mm length by 200-500 µm width), they are useful in many cases that require a small apparatus for sampling, such as analyte recovery in the brain.⁴ The molecular weight cutoff (MWCO) of these probes typically ranges between 5 and 100 kDa. Fluid is continuously perfused through the inlet tubing and analytes that are smaller than the membrane pores can diffuse into the inner membrane lumen to be carried out

through the outlet tubing as shown in Figure 1. Since analytes larger than the probe MWCO are unable to diffuse across the membrane, relatively clean samples can be recovered.⁶

Microdialysis is often used for *in vivo* sample recovery because the tissue remains intact during sampling, which allows



Figure 1. Diffusion across microdialysis probe.²

repeated sampling in animals without withdrawing blood. This often makes it possible for animals to act as their own controls.⁷ It also allows continuous

monitoring of chemical changes within the extracellular fluid (ECF) at one implantation site.⁴

Microdialysis sampling has many clinical applications^{8, 9} such as monitoring and studying cytokine activity in the brain.^{10, 11} Cytokines are messenger proteins produced by various cells throughout the body that act as part of an immunological response. They work by binding to specific surface receptors on cells to initiate cascades of immune related responses that include inhibition, enhancement, or the alteration of cellular activity.¹² Microdialysis has been used to collect intravenous blood samples.¹³ These samples are more stable because the enzymes that cause degradation of proteins are too large to diffuse across the membrane.¹⁴ Microdialysis has also shown potential as a drug delivery system due to fluid loss across the membrane.^{15, 16}

B. Theoretical Background

Microdialysis sampling is a pressure driven system which utilizes passive diffusion of solutes across a semi-permeable membrane. The pressure driving the



system is exerted from the microdialysis pump (Figure 2) pushing the fluid from the syringe to the probe then out to the collection

Figure 2. Microdialysis schematic.

vial. Diffusion occurs across the

membrane due to a concentration gradient. The solute concentration outside the probe is much greater than concentration within the probe, which facilitates mass transport.³ Microdialysis membranes are generally made from polymers such as

polycarbonate-polyether (PC), copolymer cuprophan (CUP), polyacrylonitrile (PAN), or polyethersulfone (PES).¹⁷ In this experiment, PES membranes with a 100 kDa MWCO will be used for sample recovery due to its availability.⁶

The performance of the microdialysis membrane with respect to mass transport is defined by the extraction efficiency (EE)¹⁸,

$$EE = \frac{C_{outlet} - C_{inlet}}{C_{sample} - C_{inlet}}$$
[1]

where C_{outlet} and C_{inlet} are the outlet and inlet analyte concentrations of the microdialysis probe, respectively, and C_{sample} is the analyte concentration far away from the probe in the external medium. Normally, the analyte concentration in the inlet fluid is zero, and EE becomes the relative recovery⁶ (RR).

$$RR = \frac{C_{outlet}}{C_{sample}}$$
[2]

RR is a function of the analyte mass transport properties through the sample solution, the membrane, the perfusion fluid¹⁸, and is dependent on multiple factors such as flow rate of the perfusion fluid, membrane surface area and MWCO, analyte, and matrix properties of the sample media.¹⁹

C. Limitations

Microdialysis sampling provides many advantages and clinical applications, but it also possesses several limitations. Microdialysis can be a slow process, relatively speaking. Depending on time constraints and the analyte being tested, the process can take roughly 30 minutes to collect an adequate amount of sample for testing. This is, in part, due to the slow perfusion rates used for sampling – generally between 0.25-5.0 μ L/min. Slower flow rates are used because RR of larger

molecular weight molecules decreases as flow rate increases^{3,} ^{20, 21} as shown in Figure 3. Increased flow rates can also increase fluid loss through the probe into the sample solution due to the increased pressure within the probe.²²

Low RR of large molecular



Figure 3. Simulated curves of RR as a function of flow rates using Bungay's model for glucose (black), insulin (red), and MCP-1 (green).⁵

weight analyte is another limitation of microdialysis. This poses a problem when trying to recover proteins such as cytokines, which have a molecular weight of approximately 8-80 kDa and are usually found in the picomolar range in a biological system. Therefore, testing for the presence of these proteins requires sensitive methods for detection⁶ or a relatively large sample volume.

Microdialysis sampling has been shown to yield higher recovery (>60%) for sampling low molecular weight analyte, such as glucose and urea, and is often used *in vivo*.²³⁻²⁵ However, recovery using microdialysis is usually less than 100% because fluid is continuously flowing through the probe, meaning the perfusate and sample never fully reach a state of equilibrium⁶ and the collected sample is diluted. Using higher flow rates reduces the residence time of the perfusate in the probe so analytes do not have enough time to diffuse across the membrane, which, therefore, decreases RR.³ Variations and improvements have been made to the conventional microdialysis process in attempt to increase RR of analytes.

D. Variations of Microdialysis

Multiple variations of microdialysis have been tested to improve RR ranging from modifying the radius of the probe's inner cannula²⁶, utilizing multiple miniaturized probes at once²⁷, using affinity agents in the perfusate^{28, 29}, and increasing perfusate viscosity to decrease fluid loss.³⁰ Other modification techniques, which will be the primary focus of this experiment, that have been introduced to improve recovery are push-pull microdialysis and vacuum ultrafiltration.

i. Push-Pull Microdialysis

Push-pull microdialysis is a sampling technique in which a secondary pump is connected to the conventional microdialysis setup and set to "pull" sample as



Figure 4. Push-pull schematic.

shown in Figure 4. This technique utilizes a pressure gradient to transport analyte across the microdialysis membrane. In conventional microdialysis,

the syringe pump creates a positive pressure which forces perfusate through the system causing fluid loss into the sample (Figure 5a). When the secondary pump is connected, it creates a negative pressure environment in the outlet tubing that pulls analyte across the membrane, which eliminates fluid loss and increases RR (Figure 5b). By increasing the pull flow rate higher than the push flow rate (Figure 5c), the



Figure 5. Image reprinted with permission from Kjellstrom et al.¹ (a) In conventional microdialysis, some of the perfusate will be lost into the sample. (b) In push-pull microdialysis using the same push and pull flow rates, the net flux across the membrane is zero. (c) Increasing the pull flow rate in push-pull microdialysis increases recovery and reduces the sample volume.

negative pressure in the outlet tubing is increased which causes an increase in

analyte and fluid recovery.^{1, 22}

ii. Vacuum Ultrafiltration

Ultrafiltration utilizes a pressure differential applied across a semipermeable membrane to transport analyte from the sample into the microdialysis probe.⁷ Vacuum ultrafiltration uses the same setup show in Figure 4, but the inlet tube is sealed off so only the secondary pump is utilized to pull analyte across the membrane. Eliminating the perfusate prevents dilution of the recovered analyte, therefore increasing RR and fluid recovery (Figure 6).



experiment is to determine which sampling technique yields higher RR of large molecular weight analyte.

III. Materials and Methods

A. Chemicals and Instruments

Dextran 500, Methyl Orange (MO), Fluorescein Isothiocyanate 4 kDa (FITC-4), and Fluorescein Isothiocyanate 40 kDa (FITC-40) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Microdialysis probes with 10 mm length, 0.5 mm diameter, and 100 kDa cut-off Polyethersulfone (PES) membranes were purchased from Harvard Apparatus (Holliston, MA). The 1.0 mL gastight syringe and syringe pump were purchased from BASi (West Lafayette, IN) and the MAB 20 peristaltic microdialysis pump from Watson Marlow Alitea (Stockholm, Sweden). The Nanodrop 2000 Spectrophotometer was purchased from Thermo Fischer Scientific Inc. (Waltham, MA).

B. Solutions

All solutions were prepared using 10 mM Phosphate Buffer Solution (PBS) with pH 7.4. Solutions of 6% Dextran 500, 100 μ M MO, 100 μ M FITC-4, and 100 μ M FITC-40 in 10 mM PBS, respectively, were prepared as standards.

<u>C. Push-Pull Microdialysis</u>

The microdialysis pump and syringe were assembled as shown in Figure 4. A 0.5 mL microcentrifuge tube was filled with sample and placed on top of the stir plate. The microdialysis pump was perfused with 6% Dextran 500 in 10 mM PBS through the inlet tubing at 1 μ L/min flow rate. Triplicate samples were collected using the microdialysis pump pushing at 1 μ L/min with the MAB 20 peristaltic pump disconnected (0 pull). The MAB 20 was then connected and set to pull at flow rates 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min, respectively, with the microdialysis pump pushing at a constant 1 μ L/min.

For each trial, a 0.2 mL collection vial was used to collect the dialysate. Each vial was weighed so the total volume collected could be determined. Prior to collection at each flow rate, the microdialysis pump and the MAB 20 were run for 20 min. to allow the system to equilibrate. This experiment was conducted at 22 °C and 1 atm pressure.

D. Vacuum Ultrafiltration

The microdialysis pump, syringe, and MAB 20 peristaltic pump were assembled, as shown in Figure 7, and perfused with 10 mM PBS at 5 μ L/min for 20 min. to ensure no air was present in the lines. A 0.5 mL microcentrifuge tube was filled with sample and placed on top of the stir plate. The MAB 20 was disconnected



from the probe outlet tubing and triplicate samples were collected using the microdialysis pump pushing at 1 µL/min (0 pull). The syringe was then detached, emptied, and

Figure 7. Vacuum Ultrafiltration experimental setup with empty syringe to seal off inlet tubing.

reattached to seal off the inlet tubing. The MAB 20 was reconnected to the outlet tubing and set to pull at 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min, respectively, with the microdialysis pump in the OFF position.

For each trial, a 0.2 mL collection vial was used to collect the dialysate. Each vial was weighed so the total volume collected could be determined. Prior to collection at each flow rate, the MAB 20 was run for 20 min. to allow the system to equilibrate. This experiment was conducted at 22 °C and 1 atm pressure.

E. Sample Measurement

Each analyte vial was weighed before and after sample collection to determine volume recovery. A calibration curve was constructed by measuring the absorbance, using the Nanodrop, of serial dilutions made from the 100 μ M standards. The absorbance of the collected sample was then measured and referenced to the calibration curve to determine concentration recovery.

IV. Results and Discussion

A. Push-Pull Microdialysis

The percent recovery of MO, FITC-4, and FITC-40 using push-pull



Figure 8. Push-Pull Percent Recovery.

69.84 ± 1.58, 72.71 ±

2.34, 74.51 ± 2.77, and 82.18 ± 0.25, respectively. Percent recovery of FITC-4 at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 35.17 ± 2.08, 26.17 ± 4.71, 48.50 ± 3.58, 67.83 ± 2.50, 73.83 ± 2.50, 76.50 ± 2.08, and 82.17 ± 4.02, respectively. FITC-40 percent recovery at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 2.99 ± 1.04, 3.38 ± 1.04, 8.45 ± 0.55, 28.62 ± 0.73, 32.41 ± 1.69, 35.64 ± 1.39, and 40.06 ± 0.59, respectively. MO percent recovery showed no significant variation from 0 to 8 μ L/min pull flow rates using the difference of means statistical analysis (p<0.05, n=3). FITC-4 recovery decreased from 0 to 1 μ L/min pull flow rates before increasing with higher pull flow rates thereafter. One potential explanation for this occurrence is the negative pressure exerted by the MAB 20 being equal to the positive pushing pressure causing a continual flow of perfusion fluid and decreasing resistance and residence time in the

probe for equilibration to occur with the analyte. Further testing is required to determine the cause or if this was an anomaly. FITC-40 recovery showed a dramatic increase from 2 to 3 μ L/min pull (p<0.05, n=3) then steadily increased thereafter.

The volume recovery of MO, FITC-4, and FITC-40 using push-pull

microdialysis are shown in Figure 9. Push-pull volume recovery for MO at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 1.16 ± 0.03, 1.02 ± 0.01, 1.99 ± 0.01, 2.96 ± 0.01, 3.12 ± 1.37, 4.81 ± 0.01, and 7.53 ± 0.05

2

3

Pull Flow Rate (µL/min)

5

8

0

1

respectively.

 $\mu L/min$,

Recovery of FITC-4

at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 1.19 ± 0.02, 1.07 ± 0.06, 2.04 ± 0.06, 3.14 ± 0.10, 4.01 ± 0.04, 4.94 ± 0.04, and 7.57 ± 0.21 μ L/min, respectively. Recovery of FITC-40 at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 1.20 ± 0.03, 1.03 ± 0.02, 1.97 ± 0.04, 2.54 ± 0.05, 2.89 ± 0.09, 3.43 ± 0.10, and 5.46 ± 0.29 μ L/min, respectively. Volume recovery of all three analyte using 1 μ L/min push with 0, 1, and 2 μ L/min pull, respectively, showed no significant variation (p<0.05, n=3). The recovery of MO and FITC-4 had similar volume recoveries at all pull flow rates with FITC-40 volume recovery being significantly less than MO and FITC-4 at 5 and 8 μ L/min pull (p<0.05, n=3). The reason for this may be concentration polarization where there is a build



15

up of FITC-40 at the outside of the membrane. The hydrodynamic radius of FITC-40 vs. FITC-4 is 4.5 nm vs. 1.4 nm, respectively, while the inner lumen of the probe has approximately 9 nm pores limiting the rate of diffusion.

B. Vacuum Ultrafiltration



Figure 10 shows the percent recovery of MO, FITC-4, and FITC-40 using

Figure 10. Vacuum Ultrafiltration Percent Recovery.

2.50, 91.71 ± 1.67, 93.57 ± 3.45, 97.31 ± 5.64, and 94.51 ± 3.45, respectively. Percent recovery of FITC-4 at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 33.17 ± 6.53, 90.50 ± 4.15, 96.17 ± 3.58, 95.17 ± 2.08, 95.83 ± 5.01, 95.17 ± 2.65, and 97.17 ± 2.65, respectively. FITC-40 percent recovery of at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 4.07 ± 0.33, 48.76 ± 15.08, 80.69 ± 9.23, 85.84 ± 4.97, 89.87 ± 6.39, 88.33 ± 3.59, and 91.48 ± 8.01, respectively. At 0 μ L/min pull (using 1 μ L/min push only), MO showed the highest recovery and FITC-40 the lowest, demonstrating recovery using conventional microdialysis decreases as analyte molecular weight increases. MO and FITC-4 showed similar recoveries at 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull, respectively.

91.97 ± 2.66, 93.44 ±

FITC-40 showed a significant increase from 0 to 2 μ L/min pull (p<0.05, n=3),

respectively, then leveled off thereafter.

Vacuum

was 0.88 ± 0.01, 1.04

 ± 0.01 , 2.04 ± 0.01 ,

ultrafiltration are **Vacuum Ultrafiltration Volume** shown in Figure 11. Recovery Volume Recovery (µL/min) 1 2 2 4 2 9 2 8 ultrafiltration Methyl Orange volume recovery for FITC-4 FITC-40 MO at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 0 0 5 2 3 4 8 and 8 μ L/min pull 1 Pull Flow Rate (µL/min)

The volume recovery of MO, FITC-4, and FITC-40 using vacuum

Figure 11. Vacuum Ultrafiltration Volume Recovery.

 3.01 ± 0.01 , 3.88 ± 0.11 , 4.85 ± 0.09 , and $6.06 \pm 1.48 \mu$ L/min, respectively. Recovery of FITC-4 at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 1.18 ± 0.02, 1.03 ± 0.00, 2.05 ± 0.02, 3.02 ± 0.03 , 3.96 ± 0.02 , 4.93 ± 0.01 , and $7.55 \pm 0.03 \mu$ L/min, respectively. Recovery of FITC-40 at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 μ L/min pull was 1.15 ± 0.04, 0.93 ± 0.06, 1.68 ± 0.18 , 2.22 ± 0.35 , 2.60 ± 0.46 , 2.58 ± 0.81 , and $2.95 \pm 0.85 \,\mu$ L/min, respectively. Volume recovery of all three analytes using 0, 1, and 2 μ L/min pull, respectively, showed no significant variation (p<0.05, n=3). MO and FITC-4 continued to have similar recoveries at higher pull flow rates. FITC-40 recovery using 3, 4, 5, and 8 µL/min pull, respectively, was significantly less than MO and FITC-4 at the same flow rates (p < 0.05, n = 3).

Overall, the vacuum ultrafiltration sample percent recoveries were higher than push-pull microdialysis percent recoveries. This is mostly due to the push-pull samples being diluted by the constant 1 μ L/min push of perfusion fluid. Volume recoveries of MO and FITC-4 were similar using push-pull vs. vacuum ultrafiltration. However, FITC-40 volume recoveries were higher using push-pull rather than vacuum ultrafiltration due to the added 1 μ L/min pushed perfusion fluid being collected in addition to the analyte sample.

V. Conclusion

Vacuum ultrafiltration sampling provided greater percent recovery while

push-pull microdialysis yielded higher volume recovery. When using vacuum

ultrafiltration, adequate analyte fluid is needed since it pulls from and quickly

depletes sample volume. Because vacuum ultrafiltration uses no perfusion fluid, it is

best suited for in vitro sampling while push-pull microdialysis would be best suited

for *in vivo* sampling studies.

VI. References

- 1. Kjellstrom, S., Lindberg, S., Laurell, T., and Marko-Varga, G. (2000) Development of a push-pull microdialysis sampling technique for the quantitative determination of proteins, *Chromatographia* 52, 334-339.
- 2. Nye, J. A. (2015) Cocaine Occupancy at DAT, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia.
- 3. Bungay, P. M., Wang, T., Yang, H., and Elmquist, W. F. (2010) Utilizing transmembrane convection to enhance solute sampling and delivery by microdialysis: Theory and in vitro validation, *J. Membr. Sci.* 348, 131-149.
- 4. Stenken, J. A. (1999) Methods and issues in microdialysis calibration, *Anal. Chim. Acta 379*, 337-357.
- 5. Duo, J. (2009) Affinity Microdialysis Sampling of Cytokines, In *Chemistry*, p 165, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, New York.
- 6. Ao, X., and Stenken, J. A. (2006) Microdialysis sampling of cytokines, *Methods* (*San Diego, CA, U. S.*) *38*, 331-341.
- 7. Janle, E. M., and Kissinger, P. T. (1996) Microdialysis and ultrafiltration, *Advances in food and nutrition research 40*, 183-196.

- 8. Garrison, K. E., Pasas, S. A., Cooper, J. D., and Davies, M. I. (2002) A review of membrane sampling from biological tissues with applications in pharmacokinetics, metabolism and pharmacodynamics, *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 17*, 1-12.
- 9. Nandi, P., and Lunte, S. M. (2009) Recent trends in microdialysis sampling integrated with conventional and microanalytical systems for monitoring biological events: a review, *Anal Chim Acta 651*, 1-14.
- 10. Vasicek, T. W., Jackson, M. R., Poseno, T. M., and Stenken, J. A. (2013) In Vivo Microdialysis Sampling of Cytokines from Rat Hippocampus: Comparison of Cannula Implantation Procedures, *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* 4, 737-746.
- 11. Portnow, J., Badie, B., Liu, X., Frankel, P., Mi, S., Chen, M., and Synold, T. W. (2014) A pilot microdialysis study in brain tumor patients to assess changes in intracerebral cytokine levels after craniotomy and in response to treatment with a targeted anti-cancer agent, *J. Neuro-Oncol.* 118, 169-177.
- 12. Brodbeck, W. G., Nakayama, Y., Matsuda, T., Colton, E., Ziats, N. P., and Anderson, J. M. (2002) Biomaterial surface chemistry dictates adherent monocyte/macrophage cytokine expression in vitro, *Cytokine 18*, 311-319.
- 13. Telting-Diaz, M., Scott, D. O., and Lunte, C. E. (1992) Intravenous microdialysis sampling in awake, freely-moving rats, *Anal. Chem.* 64, 806-810.
- 14. Lunte, C. E., Scott, D. O., and Kissinger, P. T. (1991) Sampling living systems using microdialysis probes, *Anal. Chem. 63*, 773A-774A, 776A-778A, 780A.
- 15. Shannon, R. J., Carpenter, K. L. H., Guilfoyle, M. R., Helmy, A., and Hutchinson, P. J. (2013) Cerebral microdialysis in clinical studies of drugs: pharmacokinetic applications, *J. Pharmacokinet. Pharmacodyn. 40*, 343-358.
- 16. Sani, S. N., and Stricker-Krongrad, A. (2012) Application of microdialysis in pre-clinical drug research and development, *Int. J. Pharm. Sci. Rev. Res.* 15, 01-10.
- 17. Stenken, J. A., Chen, R., and Yuan, X. (2001) Influence of geometry and equilibrium chemistry on relative recovery during enhanced microdialysis, *Anal. Chim. Acta* 436, 21-29.
- 18. Bungay, P. M., Morrison, P. F., and Dedrick, R. L. (1990) Steady-state theory for quantitative microdialysis of solutes and water in vivo and in vitro, *Life Sciences* 46, 105-119.
- 19. Stenken, J. A., Lunte, C. E., Southard, M. Z., and Staahle, L. (1997) Factors That Influence Microdialysis Recovery. Comparison of Experimental and Theoretical Microdialysis Recoveries in Rat Liver, *J. Pharm. Sci. 86*, 958-966.
- 20. Wang, X., and Stenken, J. A. (2006) Microdialysis sampling membrane performance during in vitro macromolecule collection, *Analytical Chemistry 78*, 6026-6034.
- 21. Kirbs, C., and Kloft, C. (2014) In vitro microdialysis recovery and delivery investigation of cytokines as prerequisite for potential biomarker profiling, *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 57*, 48-59.
- 22. Li, Z., Hughes, D., Urban, J. P. G., and Cui, Z. (2008) Effect of pumping methods on transmembrane pressure, fluid balance and relative recovery in microdialysis, *Journal of Membrane Science 310*, 237-245.

- 23. Stjernstrom, H., Karlsson, T., Ungerstedt, U., and Hillered, L. (1993) Chemical monitoring of intensive care patients using intravenous microdialysis, *Intensive Care Med* 19, 423-428.
- 24. Reinstrup, P., Stahl, N., Mellergard, P., Uski, T., Ungerstedt, U., and Nordstrom, C. H. (2000) Intracerebral microdialysis in clinical practice: baseline values for chemical markers during wakefulness, anesthesia, and neurosurgery, *Neurosurgery* 47, 701-709; discussion 709-710.
- 25. Vespa, P. M., McArthur, D., O'Phelan, K., Glenn, T., Etchepare, M., Kelly, D., Bergsneider, M., Martin, N. A., and Hovda, D. A. (2003) Persistently low extracellular glucose correlates with poor outcome 6 months after human traumatic brain injury despite of lack of increased lactate: a microdialysis study, *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 23*, 865-877.
- 26. Wisniewski, N., and Torto, N. (2002) Optimization of microdialysis sampling recovery by varying inner cannula geometry, *Analyst (Cambridge, U. K.)* 127, 1129-1134.
- 27. Woo, K. L., and Lunte, C. E. (2008) The development of multiple probe microdialysis sampling in the stomach, *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis 48*, 20-26.
- 28. Duo, J., and Stenken, J. A. (2011) Heparin-immobilized microspheres for the capture of cytokines, *Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 399*, 773-782.
- 29. Duo, J., and Stenken, J. A. (2011) In vitro and in vivo affinity microdialysis sampling of cytokines using heparin-immobilized microspheres, *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 399, 783-793.
- 30. Chu, J., Koudriavtsev, V., Hjort, K., and Dahlin, A. P. (2014) Fluorescence imaging of macromolecule transport in high molecular weight cut-off microdialysis, *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry 406*, 7601-7609.